FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/16/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/15/2024 4:22 PM

Supreme Court No. _

COA No. 84352-4-I Case #: 1035462

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

MICAL ROBERTS, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Mical Roberts asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals published decision terminating review, *State v. Roberts*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 553 P.3d 1122 (2024). RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In its published opinion addressing Mr. Roberts's challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court of Appeals lamented a perceived inconsistency in the standards this Court applies to bench trials and jury trials. The Court of Appeals called on this Court "to clarify these conflicting standards." This Court should grant review to clarify the standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence claims following bench trials.
- 2. Following a bench trial, the judge found the State did not prove Mr. Roberts shot the victim. The judge convicted Mr. Roberts of murder on an accomplice theory, but the State presented insufficient evidence of another participant.

Insufficient evidence supported the conviction on the only theory the judge endorsed, requiring reversal of the conviction and remand for dismissal of the charge.

- 3. In addition to arguing the evidence was insufficient to prove the essential elements of felony murder, Mr. Roberts argued the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction because it established the affirmative defense to felony murder. The Court of Appeals refused to consider Mr. Roberts's alternative sufficiency argument, ruling he did not raise this challenge in the trial court and holding his sufficiency of the evidence claim did not satisfy RAP 2.5(a)(3). The opinion conflicts with the Due Process Clause, ignores binding cases holding a person may challenge sufficiency of the evidence for the first time on appeal, and misapplies RAP 2.5(a)(3).
- 4. The opinion affirming Mr. Roberts's conviction based on insufficient evidence—because the evidence did not establish he committed felony murder and because the evidence established the affirmative defense to felony murder—conflicts

with the Due Process Clause and involves an important constitutional question of substantial public interest.

- 5. Mr. Roberts received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to argue the affirmative defense established by the evidence. The Court of Appeals incorrectly rejected Mr. Roberts's claim because it misunderstood the affirmative defense and a person's ability to pursue conflicting defenses.
- 6. The prosecution relied on a detective's purported gang expertise to explain Mr. Roberts's words in his music video and written lyrics, even though no evidence showed Mr. Roberts was in a gang or that his art reflected gang culture. The court erred in permitting this testimony over Mr. Roberts's objection because it lacked foundation, and the prosecution's use of a "gang expert" to interpret Mr. Roberts's music lyrics also constituted race-based misconduct. The Court of Appeals's misapplication of the objective observer standard conflicts with

this Court's efforts to eradicate these racial biases from our legal system.

- 7. A court may allow a witness to testify to matters requiring expertise only when the witness is properly qualified and their specialized knowledge will help the factfinder understand the evidence. Mr. Roberts objected to the detective's testimony about his reenactment of the crime and his opinion on the location of the shooter because the detective was not a qualified expert. The court erred and undermined Mr. Roberts's right to a fair trial when it admitted this improper testimony from this unqualified witness.
- 8. The Court of Appeals held Mr. Roberts's community custody status increased his offender score even though he was on supervision for a noncomparable offense and even though the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) limits scoring of community custody to Washington supervision. The opinion affirming the sentence imposed without authorization and contrary to binding

caselaw, presents an issue of substantial public interest that is likely to reoccur.

9. The SRA and due process of law authorize courts to impose exceptional sentences when a person establishes mitigating circumstances by a preponderance of the evidence and the court determines the circumstances provide substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence. The mitigating qualities of youth offer one such circumstance. The court reasonably found Mr. Roberts presented credible evidence that his youth and developmental immaturity mitigated his conduct and did not abuse its discretion in concluding youth justified an exceptional sentence in the form of a concurrent firearm enhancement. The Court of Appeals's advisory opinion to the contrary merits this Court's review.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ricardo Villaseñor and his girlfriend, Jennifer Bolanos, were eating dirmer in his basement apartment when Ms.

Bolanos heard someone kick in the exterior front door to the

house on the floor above. RP 105-07. Ms. Bolanos thought she heard two people because "there's a lot of shuffling and a lot of movement." RP 107. It sounded like they were looking for something. RP 123-25. Ms. Bolanos heard someone kick in the interior door at the top of the stairs and then run down the internal staircase between the main floor and the basement. RP 107-09.

Mr. Villaseñor grabbed his gun from his nightstand drawer and shielded Ms. Bolanos by standing in front of her as she closed her eyes. RP 110-12. Someone outside the bedroom kicked the door and began shooting through the closed, locked door. RP 110-13. Mr. Villaseñor shot back, firing seven rounds from his 9-millimeter handgun as Ms. Bolanos ran into the closet and called 911. RP 111-13, 287-89. She stayed hidden while she heard the person outside the door run upstairs, shuffle around, and leave the house. RP 115. Ms. Bolanos hid until she ran outside to meet the police. RP 120, 157.

Mr. Villaseñor was shot five times. RP 601-09. Medical responders were unable to revive Mr. Villaseñor and pronounced him dead at the scene. RP 164.

Ms. Bolanos was the only witness to the shooting.

Whoever broke into the house never entered the bedroom. RP

114-15. She never saw the person who shot Mr. Villaseñor and never heard the person speak. RP 114. The time from when

Ms. Bolanos heard someone kick in the exterior door until she heard the person leave was about two minutes. RP 115.

By the time police began processing the scene, officers and medical responders had disrupted it by walking through the downstairs apartment and Mr. Villaseñor's bedroom. RP 143-46, 162-63. Police entered the house quickly because they were responding to "an active shooter." RP 131-40. Officers were "literally walking across spent shell casings" as they raced in, "stepping on" the casings on the floor and "disturbing them." RP 140. Officers also had to drag Mr. Villaseñor out of his bedroom to respond to his injuries as medics ran in to assist.

RP 161-63. Everyone was "moving quickly" and "stuff could get kicked." RP 161. Police did not document the scene until four hours after they first responded. RP 156, 173.

Detective Belford marked and photographed where he found spent shell casings and bullet holes. RP 198-99.

Detective Belford also found a drop of blood on the porch steps. RP 181-82. He also found blood on the wall by the interior staircase and on the movie screen, both in the shared living area. RP 189. Both were "transfer and smear" stains. RP 189-92. Police swabbed each stain and sent them to the laboratory. RP 225-28.

In addition to the seven cartridges found in the bedroom that Mr. Villaseñor fired, police found 16 cartridges "scattered throughout the common area outside the bedroom." RP 197-207, 288. Forensic scientists determined the same 9-millimeter gun fired all 16 cartridges. RP 292-93. Police never found the gun. CP 13.

Mr. Villaseñor lived in the basement apartment with his roommate, Javier Zamora. RP 417-18. Mr. Zamora's cousin, Abraham Madrigal, lived upstairs with his wife, Ana Lugo Rivera, and their children. RP 416-17. Detective Wheeler, the main investigator, learned that both Mr. Villaseñor and Mr. Madrigal were under surveillance by the Tacoma Police Department (TPD). RP 326.

TPD alerted Detective Wheeler they were surveilling the house as part of an ongoing drug investigation. RP 326, 623.

TPD monitored several people and cars involved in drug sales that returned to the house. RP 628-33. TPD believed Mr.

Villaseñor was the source of the drugs for the target of their investigation and that the house was the stash house for drugs.

RP 626-33. The target of their investigation also used Mr.

Madrigal's cars, and police arrested the target in the month after Villaseñor's murder, driving Madrigal's car and in possession of "a substantial amount of narcotics" and about \$46,000 cash.

RP 625-29.

When Ms. Lugo Rivera spoke with police following the shooting, she told them both her husband and cousin carried guns. RP 436-37, 440. She also explained there was a large sum of cash in their kitchen. RP 443. Mr. Madrigal admitted he had cash in the house, but he minimized the amount, claiming it was \$60,000. RP 324, 473. Police found \$83,530, hidden in the kitchen pantry. RP 251.

The money was individually separated by rubberbands and divided into three distinctly colored separate bags, contained within one plastic bag. RP 256-59; Exs.115-16.

Because of the drug investigation, police transferred the \$83,530 found in Mr. Madrigal's kitchen to TPD. RP 256, 625-26. TPD notified Madrigal of the seizure and intent to forfeit the \$83,530. RP 626. Mr. Madrigal never claimed the money. RP 626.

Less than a week after the shooting, police received an anonymous tip that Sebastian Beltran may have been involved.

RP 329-30. They learned Mr. Beltran was briefly in jail on

unrelated charges the week after the shooting. RP 329-31.

Police listened to a jail call Mr. Beltran made in which he told "Dito" "the G," meaning gun, and "all this shit is in the back."

RP 319-20.

Mr. Beltran made this call four days after Mr. Villaseñor was shot. RP 319-20. Police believed "Dito" is a cousin or "strong associate" of Mr. Beltran. RP 349, 580. Because he was "evading police" on another matter, police were not able to locate him. RP 349. Based on this call, police thought the gun used to shoot Mr. Villaseñor could be in Mr. Beltran's car.

Detective Wheeler learned Beltran's BMW was taken to Lane Towing after he was arrested. RP 330. An employee told him the day before "two Hispanic" people retrieved unknown items from the BMW but did not have enough money to take the car. RP 301-02, 330-32. Detective Wheeler started watching the lot to see if Mr. Beltran would return. RP 333. Mr. Beltran arrived with his girlfriend in a Prius driven by his

mother. RP 334-36. Police arrested him for violating an order of protection preventing contact with his girlfriend. RP 335.

Police seized both Mr. Beltran's BMW and the Prius in which he arrived. RP 336, 350. Police found a pistol box and extended magazine in the Prius's trunk. RP 315. Mr. Madrigal thought the items "looked familiar." RP 464-67. Police found several blood "transfer stains" in the BMW, which they swabbed and sent to the laboratory. RP 397-402. No one placed either car at Mr. Villaseñor's house.

Approximately three weeks after the shooting, police shifted their focus to Mical Roberts after the laboratory identified the blood droplet on the porch as Mr. Roberts's. RP 356. Scientists also later identified the transfer smear bloodstains on the wall and screen as Mr. Roberts's. RP 496-98. One of the transfer bloodstains from the rear of Mr. Beltran's BMW included Mr. Roberts as a possible contributor to the mixture containing more than one person's DNA. RP 500-02. Transfer stains result when "blood comes from one

location and is transferred to another ... usually by somebody touching it or a foot stepping in it and placing it somewhere else." RP 189.

Police issued press releases identifying Mr. Roberts as the perpetrator and containing details of the crime. RP 524; CP 101. Washington's Most Wanted featured a story on Mr. Roberts. RP 524. After the public broadcast accusing him, Mr. Roberts posted a music video to a social media account in which he referenced the television program and its description of the crime. RP 524-34, 645-47, 663-69.

Police arrested Mr. Roberts at his apartment almost four months after the shooting. RP 534-42. Mr. Roberts had a healed gunshot wound on his left hand. RP 538-41. Police searched his apartment but did not find anything taken in the burglary or related to the crime. Police seized a notebook containing song lyrics they believed Mr. Roberts wrote. RP 542-50.

The prosecution charged Mr. Roberts with first-degree felony murder based on first-degree burglary and a firearm enhancement. CP 1. Mr. Roberts waived his right to a jury trial. CP 10. The prosecution's theory throughout the entire case was that Mr. Roberts and an accomplice broke into the house, stole property, and that Mr. Roberts shot Mr. Villaseñor. *E.g.* RP 65-74, 551-61, 723-35.

To support its theory Mr. Roberts was the shooter, the prosecution introduced evidence that Mr. Roberts's blood was found at the scene. RP 495-98. Detective Wheeler also opined that Roberts was the shooter because Wheeler reenacted the shooting with another officer and concluded it was "extremely unlikely or impossible" he could have gotten shot if he was not the shooter. RP 551-61, 584-86. Finally, the prosecution relied on Detective Wheeler's explanation of Mr. Roberts's music video and written lyrics as substantive proof of his guilt after Wheeler used his experience in "Hispanic gang speech" to interpret the lyrics. RP 523-34, 542-50.

Mr. Roberts testified and explained he went to Mr. Villaseñor's house, unarmed, to buy heroin as he had several times before. RP 637-40. He found the front door open and entered. RP 639-41. When he got downstairs, a man he had never seen before shot him. RP 641. Mr. Roberts stumbled back, bleeding from the hand, and ran out of the house as he heard more gunshots. RP 641-43.

The court rejected the prosecution's theory in detailed findings. CP 99-106. The court found the prosecution did not prove that Mr. Roberts shot Mr. Villaseñor. CP 103. It also found the prosecution did not prove that Mr. Roberts knew the shooter was armed until after the shooting began. CP 103-05. Despite finding reasonable doubt regarding the prosecution's interpretation of the evidence, it found Mr. Roberts guilty of first-degree murder with a firearm enhancement. CP 104-05.

The court concluded, "While the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Roberts was the shooter or that he knew that the other person was armed before the

shooting began, Mr. Roberts is guilty of Murder in the First Degree, predicated on Burglary in the First Degree, as an accomplice." CP 104. The court also concluded, "While there is insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Roberts was himself armed with a firearm at the time of the crime, he is deemed to have been armed at the time of the offense because he was an accomplice to the crime." CP 105.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Division One continues to misapply the scope of appellate review of sufficiency of the evidence challenges following bench trials, and its opinion calls on this Court to "clarify the[] conflicting standards."

Mr. Roberts challenged the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction because the trial court found the prosecution did not prove Mr. Roberts was the shooter, and the evidence also did not prove he was an accomplice. In considering his argument, the Court of Appeals declared, "The case law that addresses the scope of appellate review on a sufficiency challenge to a conviction after a bench trial is not a

model of clarity." Slip op. at 10. It found this Court's *Homan*¹ standard conflicts with the standard in *Jackson*² and *Green*³. Slip op. at 10-13.

Under *Homan*, "following a bench trial, appellate review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law." 181 Wn.2d at 105-06. Under *Jackson* and *Green*, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 221 (citing *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319).

The Court of Appeals ultimately reviewed the sufficiency of the evidence under what it believed were two different

¹ State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-06, 330 P.3d 182 (2014).

² *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

³ State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

standards "because our state Supreme Court has yet to clarify these conflicting standards." *Id.* at 13.

The opinion demonstrates the widely perceived "inconsistency in the case law concerning the scope of appellate review of a sufficiency of the evidence challenge to a bench trial conviction." Wash. Assoc. of Prosecuting Attorneys, *Case Law Weekly Roundup* (Aug. 16, 2024).⁴

For years, Division One has insisted:

[T]he sufficiency of the evidence test set forth by our Supreme Court in *State v. Homan* ... conflicts with the sufficiency of the evidence standard for criminal cases announced by the United States Supreme Court in *Jackson v. Virginia*.

State v. Stewart, 12 Wn. App. 2d 236, 243, 457 P.3d 1213 (2020) (Dwyer, J., concurring); State v. I.J.S., No. 82559-3-I, 2022 WL 766458, *2 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022) (unpub.) (concluding "the Supreme Court misspoke in its *Homan* decision").

⁴ <u>https://waprosecutors.org/caselaw/</u>

Division One continues to contend *Homan* conflicts with *Jackson* even after this Court dismissed a similar concern in another case. In *State v. Vasquez*, this Court stated, "We have rejected a substantial evidence standard in determining the sufficiency of the evidence because it does not require proof beyond a reasonable doubt." 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013) (citing *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 220-21). But in a footnote in *State v. Conaway*, this Court rejected the claim that the "substantial evidence" standard, properly applied, conflicts with *Jackson*'s "sufficient evidence" standard as a "misunderstanding" of these "interchangeabl[e]" terms. 199 Wn.2d 742, 749 n.2, 512 P.3d 526 (2022).

Conaway stated that in a criminal case, "substantial evidence" means evidence sufficient to convince a trier of fact of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* It cited *Homan* favorably and noted the lower court "correctly applied the due process standard" when it applied *Homan*. But even after *Conaway*, Division One maintains this Court's cases are

inconsistent and set forth two different standards. Slip op. at 9-20; State v. Sidell, No. 82290-0-I, 2022 WL 2443294, *1 n.2 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022) (unpub.) (GR 14.1) (stating Homan is "imprecise dicta"). The Court of Appeals's continued confusion regarding the interplay between the Homan and Jackson standards demonstrates the need for this Court to address the issue.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals wields the perceived conflict to try to substitute its own judgement for that of the judge who decided the case. At a bench trial, the same sufficiency standard applies as a jury trial, and a reviewing court must reverse if a rational trier of fact could not have found every essential element proven beyond a reasonable doubt. But the reviewing court must use the court's findings. So the question is not what the court *could have found*. The question is whether, given the court's findings of facts, any rational trier of fact could have found every essential element proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

But rather than accept the factfinder's determination of credibility, resolution of conflicting testimony, and assessment of the evidence, the Court of Appeals considered all the evidence, even evidence the court did not include in its findings. *See* Slip op. at 15-17.

The trier of fact is "the sole and exclusive judge of the evidence." *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 709, 974 P.2d 832 (1999). When judges sit as factfinders, they must explain their verdicts by entering "findings of fact and conclusions of law." CrR 6.1(d). Courts must rest their findings on substantial evidence, and the findings must support the legal conclusions. *State v A.M.*, 163 Wn. App. 414, 419, 260 P.3d 229 (2011). Thus, appellate review following a bench trial "is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law." *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d at 105-06.

This ensures appropriate deference to the trial court's role as factfinder in bench trials. The trial court's written

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