FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/21/2025 1:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103546-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICAL ROBERTS,

Petitioner.

**STATE'S AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR
REVIEW**

LEESA MANION (she/her)
King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

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

get in touch wif my 'Cse', 'I've been needin a lick

Roberts asks this Court to accept review of this issue, arguing that the Court of Appeals’ opinion reflects a “profound misunderstanding of the required analysis of race-based prosecutorial misconduct.” Pet. for Rev. at 48-49. But Roberts’ disagreement with the Court of Appeals’ conclusion does not mean the Court of Appeals failed to properly consider the issue or applied the wrong standard.

When a claim of alleged prosecutorial misconduct is based on racial bias, a heightened standard of review applies. *State v. Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d 777, 788, 522 P.3d 982 (2023). To prevail on this claim “the defendant must demonstrate that the prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial by showing that they *flagrantly or apparently intentionally* appealed to racial bias in a manner that undermined the defendant’s credibility or the presumption of innocence.” *Id.* at 790 (emphasis in original). If the defendant meets that burden, the conduct is considered per se prejudicial, and reversal is required. *Id.*

The standard applied is “whether an objective observer could view the prosecutor’s questions and comments as an appeal to jurors’ potential prejudice, bias, or stereotypes in a manner that undermined the defendant’s credibility or the presumption of innocence.” *Id.* at 793 (footnote omitted). An “objective observer” is one “who is aware of the history of race and ethnic discrimination in the United States and that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State.” *Id.* at 793 n.7.

This Court has outlined a four-point framework for this analysis: “(1) the content and subject of the questions and comments, (2) the frequency of the remarks, (3) the apparent purpose of the statements, and (4) whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record.” *Id.* at 794 (citing *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 718-19, 512 P.3d 512 (2022)). The Court of Appeals properly applied this framework.

As to the content and subject of the questions and testimony, the prosecutor asked Detective Wheeler, based on his experience, what the words “ese” and “lick” meant — slang terms that had been used by Roberts. Slip op. at 33. Wheeler responded that “ese” is “Spanish slang roughly equivalent of saying ‘dude’ or referring to a man. It’s very heavily used in Hispanic gang speech.” RP 549. The State then asked Wheeler, based on his experience, what “needin a lick” meant.” Detective Wheeler testified that he had heard the phrase “a lick” many times, “sometimes it means theft in general, but it typically means robbery.” RP 549-50.

Second, as to frequency, Wheeler referred to “Hispanic gangs” just once and the phrase was not repeated by the prosecutor. Slip op. at 31.

Third, the apparent purpose for the State’s elicitation of the testimony was because the lyrics in the notebook contradicted the defense theory and described the crime in a way that fit the State’s presentation of the case. Slip op. at 34.

A core element of the defense theory was that because Roberts is a Black man he would not associate with members of a Hispanic gang, and he argued that Hispanic gang members committed the crime. RP 78-79, 575, 647, 753-54. But the language in the notebook suggested otherwise. These facts relating to race, ethnicity, and gangs were all elicited by the defense. *Id.* Fourth, the testimony was specifically tied to statements made by the defendant that were admitted into evidence. Slip op. at 34.

All four factors demonstrate that the testimony that Roberts claims was race-based misconduct specifically related to the crime and the defense that was raised. It was not an appeal to racial bias. The Court of Appeals did not err and did not misapply the legal standard. Review is unwarranted.

4. EVIDENCE ABOUT THE SPACE IN WHICH THE SHOOTING OCCURRED WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AND ANY ERROR WAS INVITED BY ROBERTS.

The trial court admitted testimony regarding Detective Wheeler's investigation of how a man of similar stature as Roberts could be positioned in the area outside Villa Senor's bedroom door, be shot in the hand, but *not* have been the person who shot into Villa Senor's room. The detective did not draw any conclusions from the demonstration until Roberts elicited those opinions on cross-examination. RP 586.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the admission of this demonstration was well within the trial court's discretion and that Roberts had invited any error regarding Detective Wheeler's opinions to be drawn from the evidence because Roberts himself elicited them. Slip op. at 37-39.

Roberts seeks this Court's review merely by stating baldly that the Court of Appeals' opinion "contradicts" this

Court's cases regarding reenactment evidence and misapplies the invited error doctrine. Roberts cites to no cases or presents any reasoned argument as to why this is so. He fails to establish that review of this issue is warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

Use of demonstrative evidence is encouraged and is admissible if the experiment was under substantially similar conditions as the event at issue. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 816, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Determining whether the similarity is sufficient is a matter of trial court discretion. *Id.* If the similarity justifies admission, any lack of similarity goes to the weight of the evidence. *Id.* The evidence must “tend[s] to enlighten the jury and to enable them more intelligently to consider the issues presented.” *Id.* The evidence should be excluded if it is more prejudicial than probative. *Id.* Demonstrative evidence need not exactly duplicate the events that are at issue. *Id.*

The demonstration here did not pretend to reenact the shooting of Villa Senor. The demonstration was conducted in the home where the shooting occurred, in the area outside the victim's bedroom door, using a detective the approximate stature of the defendant. RP 551. Detective Wheeler testified that it was to visualize the theory that a third person could be between two people having the gunfight. RP 552.

The trial court determined that the demonstration was relevant to "the size of the hallway outside the door for which the gunfight was."⁷ RP 552. Roberts has not shown any unfair prejudice inherent in the demonstration. The model detective stood in a variety of positions in the hallway, from the threshold of the victim's bedroom, then in the hallway, and finally stood in the bathroom across the hallway; he held a rubber dummy gun in a variety of positions in one hand, the other hand, and

⁷ The detective, when asked by Roberts his opinion of the position of the shooter on cross-examination, testified that the shooter could have been in the hallway or just inside the bathroom. RP 586.

both hands. RP 552-60. A photographer took pictures and some of those photos were admitted. Ex. 170-82. The photos are not graphic as the demonstration was performed and photographed over a year after the crime. RP 551.

The testimony describing the demonstration included no opinion or conclusion drawn from the demonstration. RP 552-60. The photographs showing the model in many different positions included no text or other indication of a conclusion. Ex. 170-82. If there was any error in admission of that testimony, it was harmless. On review of a bench trial, an appellate court will presume that the judge did not consider inadmissible evidence in rendering its verdict. *State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 244-45, 53 P.3d 26 (2002). That presumption is reinforced here by the trial court's discussion of the demonstration in its findings. The court noted that the photographs were in support of a theory that the defendant was shot in the hand while holding a pistol; it found, "This is not conclusive." CP 101.

Roberts elicited Wheeler's opinions about the evidence on cross-examination. RP 584, 586. Because Roberts asked the detective to state his opinions — reading the opinions to the detective from the detective's report — he cannot complain on appeal about the testimony he elicited. A defendant who invites error may not claim on appeal that he is entitled to reversal based on that error. *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999). The doctrine of invited error prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. *State v. Wakefield*, 130 Wn.2d 464, 475, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). To determine whether the invited error doctrine is applicable to a case, courts consider whether the defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefited from it. *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 154, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). The invited error doctrine bars relief regardless of whether counsel intentionally or inadvertently encouraged the error. *Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002).

As the Court of Appeals properly found, the invited error bars his claim of error in the opinions that Roberts elicited. Roberts cites nothing to support his claim that the decision below conflicts with this Court's precedent. Review is unwarranted.

**5. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REVIEW
UNTIMELY RAISED ISSUES THAT WERE
NOT CONSIDERED BY THE COURT OF
APPEALS.**

The trial court included a point in Roberts' offender score for the fact that he was on community custody at the time of the murder. In his opening brief to the Court of Appeals, Roberts argued that inclusion of the point was improper because "he was on community custody for two void possession of controlled substances offenses, which also voided his community custody status." Brf. of App. at 82. Roberts argued that because his out-of-state convictions were not comparable to a valid Washington offense, his community custody status

pursuant to those convictions could not be considered. *Id.* at 84.

However, in his reply brief, Roberts argued for the first time that “only community custody imposed pursuant to the SRA, not pursuant to other [state’s] sentencing schemes scores.” Reply Brf. at 31. The State had no opportunity to respond to this new argument and the Court of Appeals’ opinion did not address it.

Now, in his petition for review, Roberts asks this Court to “grant review to address the issue of first impression” of whether community custody status in Washington, pursuant to an out-of-state non-comparable offense, can increase an offender score. Pet. for Rev. at 51.

An appellate court does not err in failing to consider a basis for relief that the appellant did not timely raise. *See, e.g., Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (holding that issue raised in a reply brief is raised “too late to warrant consideration”). This Court reviews

decisions made by the Court of Appeals; it does not review the merits of issues the Court of Appeals did not reach. *E.g.*, *State v. Slert*, 181 Wn.2d 598, 609, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014) (remanding for Court of Appeals to consider issue it did not originally reach); *cf.* RAP 13.1 (addressing review “of decisions of the Court of Appeals”). This Court does not generally review issues raised for the first time in a petition for review. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

This Court should refuse to consider the new issue of whether Washington community custody pursuant to an out-of-state conviction can increase an offender score because (1) it was untimely raised and (2) because resentencing is required anyway. *See* Sec. E.7, *below*. The trial court can address Roberts’ newly raised claim at resentencing.

This Court should also deny review of the offender score issue that was decided by the Court of Appeals, because as outlined in the opinion, below, Roberts fails to establish a basis for review.

6. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INCLUDED A POINT IN ROBERTS' OFFENDER SCORE BECAUSE HE COMMITTED MURDER WHILE ON COMMUNITY CUSTODY IN WASHINGTON FOR VALID TEXAS CONVICTIONS.

It was undisputed that Roberts was on community custody in Washington at the time of this offense. CP 43. His supervision had been transferred from Texas, where Roberts had been convicted of possession of controlled substances (cocaine and heroin). CP 171; Tex. Health & Safety Code §§ 481.102, 481.115(b).

a. *Blake* Did Not Invalidate Roberts' Community Custody Point.

In *State v. Blake*, this Court invalidated the former Washington drug possession statute because it imposed strict liability, holding that the lack of a *mens rea* element violated due process. 197 Wn.2d 170, 182-86, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). Even applying that analysis to the Texas law Roberts was convicted of violating, his convictions would be upheld because

the Texas statute includes a *mens rea* element requiring possession with knowledge or intent. Tex. Health & Safety Code § 481.115(b).

RCW 9.94A.525(19) provides that “[i]f the present conviction is for an offense committed while the offender was under community custody, add one point.” Our appellate courts have held that a point should not be added where the offender was on community custody for a conviction for possession of a controlled substance that was invalidated by *Blake*, reasoning that because the prior conviction was unconstitutional, adding a point to the current crime amounted to additional punishment for the unconstitutional conviction. *State v. French*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 891, 893, 508 P.3d 1036 (Div. I, 2022); *State v. Rahnert*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 34, 518 P.3d 1054 (Div. II, 2002). *See also State v. Shannon*, No. 55816-5-II, 2022 WL 16945010 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 15, 2022) (unpublished, cited for its persuasive value only).

French treated the additional point as a “penalty imposed pursuant to an unconstitutional law.” 21 Wn. App. 2d at 895. The court opined that the term of community custody is part of an offender’s sentence, is punitive, and amounts to part of the penalty imposed by the sentencing court, so punishing an offender because he was on community custody perpetuates an unconstitutional conviction. *Id.* at 896. But that analysis does not apply here, where the Texas convictions that resulted in Roberts’ supervision were for possession of controlled substances (cocaine and heroin) under a Texas statute that was not invalidated by *Blake*. CP 171; Tex. Health & Safety Code §§ 481.102, 481.115(b).

The Texas convictions are not included in Roberts’ offender score because there was no valid comparable crime in Washington at the time of those convictions. *See State v. Markovich*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 157, 174, 492 P.3d 206 (2021). But they remain valid convictions and the resulting supervision

here in Washington remained in effect after the *Blake* decision.
See CP 43-44.

A person who commits a crime while on supervision is more culpable than other offenders. The offender has been released from any confinement but still commits crime while subject to the control of the court and a corrections officer. “It is reasonable to conclude that a defendant who commits a crime while on community [custody] is more culpable than one who is not on community [custody] when the crime is committed.” *State v. Miles*, 66 Wn. App. 365, 368, 832 P.2d 500 (1992).

Re-offense while on probation shows that the offender cannot readily be deterred from committing additional crimes. In the interests of public safety, the penalty for such crimes should therefore be increased.

The reasoning behind imposing longer sentences for crimes committed while on community custody is similar to the logic behind the rapid-recidivism aggravator. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t) provides that a defendant is more culpable if

“[t]he defendant committed the current offense shortly after being released from incarceration.”); *State v. Butler*, 75 Wn. App. 47, 876 P.2d 481 (1994). Rapid recidivism “reflects a disdain for the law so flagrant as to render [the offender] particularly culpable in the commission of the current offense.” *Butler*, 75 Wn. App. at 54; see also *State v. Saltz*, 137 Wn. App. 576, 154 P.3d 282 (2007) and *State v. Combs*, 156 Wn. App. 502, 506, 232 P.3d 1179 (2010) (“the gravamen of the offense is disdain for the law”).

There is no logical basis to exclude a point for community supervision imposed for valid Texas convictions, under a statute that was not invalidated by *Blake*, directly or by application of its logic. The underlying convictions are constitutionally valid, although they cannot be included in Roberts’ offender score, and the legally imposed community supervision was correctly included as an additional point because this crime was committed while under supervision. This Court should deny review.

**7. CONSECUTIVE TIME FOR THE FIREARM
ENHANCEMENT WAS REQUIRED AND
THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY
REMANDED.**

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